STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was arrested on August 7, 1990, and charged with the murder of Pauline Casey, a barmaid at the Teddy Bear Bar located in Walton County, Florida. (R<sup>1</sup>-2241-42,2252,2718). Appellant was indicted on charges of first degree murder, kidnapping, robbery, and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon and entered a plea of not guilty. (R-11,15). The charge of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon was severed for trial purposes. (R-960).

Pretrial motions were filed regarding death penalty issues (R-33 et seq.), as well as a motion to suppress evidence based upon Appellant's illegal detention (R-775,787), a motion to preclude in-court identification (R-985), and motions in limine (R-965,977).

Before Appellant's trial began, there was a fire at the courthouse in Defuniak Springs. (R-4926-27). Appellant "waived" his right to be tried in Walton County and the case proceeded to trial in the neighboring county of Okaloosa. (R-4931,4992). An impartial jury could not be selected because of extensive pretrial publicity and the court granted Appellant's motion for change of venue, moving the case to Milton, fifty-eight miles from Defuniak Springs. (R-5118,5264,5270).

The case was tried in Santa Rosa County, resulting in a verdict of guilty on counts I, II, and III of the indictment. (R-1719). The penalty phase was conducted and the jury returned a recommendation that the death penalty be imposed by a vote of seven

---

<sup>1</sup>References to the record on appeal will be made by the designation (R-page number).

to five. (R-1756).

On July 15, 1992, the trial court sentenced Appellant to death (R-1844 et seq., Appendix 3), finding seven aggravating circumstances, as follows:

1) A capital felony was committed by the Defendant while under sentence of imprisonment.

2) The Defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony and a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person.

3) The crime for which the Defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he was engaged in the commission of the crime of kidnapping.

4) The capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest.

5) The capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain.

6) The capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel.

7) The capital felony was a homicide and was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

The trial court found three mitigating factors, as follows:

1) The capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired.

2) The defendant's family background.

3) The defendant's employment background.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The victim in this case, Pauline Casey, was a barmaid working at the Teddy Bear Bar, in Walton County, Florida, when she disappeared on August 6, 1990. (R-2241-46). Her body was found the next day, about four to five miles from the bar, near a dirt road off U.S. 98 in Walton County, Florida. (R-2332-35,2341-42,2995-96).

### GUILT PHASE

#### I. BACKGROUND OF THE VICTIM, PAULINE CASEY.

Pauline Casey was married to Steve Casey. They were both in the U.S. Army and were stationed in Germany. Steve Casey's father became ill and he and Pauline requested a hardship discharge from the army to come home to be with his father. (R-3668-69).

Sandra Hall is the Leave Military Personnel Clerk at Fort Rucker. Her job is to brief soldiers who are being discharged about their benefits. Upon discharge, a soldier has a 120 day grace period to convert his or her life insurance to a personal policy. If the soldier dies within the grace period, the beneficiary can claim the life insurance benefits "without them having to pay a dime." (R-3710-11).

Sandra Hall personally handled the discharge for Pauline Casey and Steve Casey. It was an unusual situation to have two privates that were married come from overseas and present themselves for discharge at the same time. (R-3733-34,3745-46). On February 2, 1990, and again on May 4, 1990, she briefed them on their benefits and specifically remembers telling them about their \$50,000 life insurance coverage and the grace period. The insurance coverage is

reflected on a DD214, which is a discharge and release from active duty form. (R-3712-14,3725,3736).

After their discharge from the army, Steve and Pauline Casey returned to Walton County. Pauline worked as a waitress at the Hilton and also as a barmaid at the Teddy Bear Bar. Steve Casey was out of work and Pauline was the "breadwinner" in the family. (R-3669-72).

## II. THE TEDDY BEAR BAR.

The Teddy Bear Bar is a small bar with a pool table that is located on state road 30A in Walton County. The bar is owned by Ted Valencia and opened July 1, 1990. Pauline Casey worked at the bar for seven to ten days prior to her disappearance. She usually worked nights, and was a dependable employee. (R-2241-42,2252).

On the day she disappeared, Pauline Casey came into the bar with her husband about noon and Mr. Valencia asked Pauline to work that night. (R-2246). Mr. Valencia intended to have the locks changed at the bar because another employee quit the day before, so he asked Pauline to give him back her key. Later in the day, the locksmith called and said he could not come out until the following day. Mr. Valencia gave the key back to Pauline at approximately 5:30, as he was leaving the bar. She put it on top of the cash register. (R-2245-47).

Sandra Mullens was the manager of the Teddy Bear Bar until she quit on the Saturday prior to Pauline's disappearance. (R-3035). She gave Pauline her key to the bar on that Saturday. (R-3037). Mr. Valencia said there were three keys to the door. He "probably"

kept a key that fit the door and "Sandy probably gave one to Judy [one of the other barmaids]." (R-2253,2255-56). Ms. Mullens testified that Judy Pitkin "never had a side door key." (R-3059).

On several occasions, Mr. Valencia talked to Steve Casey about working at the bar. Mr. Valencia specifically recalls talking to Steve Casey about that on August 6, the day that Pauline disappeared. He did not personally give Steve Casey a key to the bar, but is not sure whether someone else did or not. (R-2272-74).

### III. APPELLANT, ERNEST DONALD SUGGS.

The Appellant, Ernest Donald Suggs, is from Anniston, Alabama. His mother and father own a house on Choctawhatchee Bay in Walton County. Appellant was staying at his parents' home and working on the roof and the dock, for which he was paid \$150 cash on July 29, 1990, and another \$100 on July 31, 1990. (R-3913-19). His parents sent him two fifty dollar checks for his birthday. One check was cashed at the 331 Mini Market on August 6, 1990. (R-3916,3945).

Appellant was convicted of murder and assault with intent to commit murder in Alabama. He was paroled in June of 1989, and was in Florida "hoping to find a job." (R-3920,4640).

### IV. PRIOR CONTACT BETWEEN APPELLANT AND PAULINE CASEY.

Prior to the date of Pauline's disappearance, Appellant had been at the Teddy Bear Bar on several occasions. Sandra Mullens remembered seeing a napkin on the bar with the name "Ernie Suggs" and a phone number, a week or so before. (R-3061). Pauline appeared to be friendly with Appellant and tried to get him a job working with John Villereal. Pauline referred to Appellant as "Her



friend from Alabama." (R-3672-73). On the date of her disappearance, she told one of the bar patrons that she had been at the Hitching Post [another bar] earlier that day and saw Appellant there. The witnesses were unsure whether Pauline had been in Appellant's car while over at the Hitching Post. (R-2816-17).

#### V. RAY HAMILTON.

Ray Hamilton had known Pauline Casey for six years and previously dated her. (R-2788,2808). He was on probation. (R-2820). The Caseys lived in a block house and Hamilton lived in a mobile home on the same piece of property. (R-2790).

Ray Hamilton was in the Teddy Bear Bar on the night that Pauline disappeared. Hamilton said he arrived at the Teddy Bear about 8:30 or 9:00 and, while he was there, talked to Steve Casey on the phone about 9:45. (R-2788,2797). Pauline was shooting pool with a white male that he later identified as Appellant. (R-2793-94). Hamilton said that Appellant was there for awhile, left and then came back; but, Hamilton had no way to verify that Appellant returned to the bar. Hamilton was likewise alone with Pauline that night. (R-2814).

Hamilton said he left the bar about 9:45 p.m. and Appellant was still there at that time. (R-2796-98). Hamilton said he went to get a pizza and took it home to eat. (R-2798-2800). The next day he gave the investigators a pizza box but no investigation was done to confirm Hamilton's alibi. (R-3069-72).

#### VI. PAULINE CASEY GOES MISSING.

Diane Hosmeier went to the Teddy Bear Bar on August 6, 1990,

at 11:10 p.m. The "open" sign was in the window and the door was ajar. There was a car parked outside, but nobody was in the bar. The inside was very clean and all chairs in order. There were no physical signs of a struggle. When she went to make change for a beer, there was only change - no bills in the register. (R-2220-23, 2227). She called Ted Valencia who instructed her to call the Sheriff's Office. (R-2223). There was a napkin next to the cash register with the name "Ray" and "Draft" with the numbers one and two, indicating that Ray had paid for two draft beers. There was nothing in the bar to indicate that Appellant had been there. (R-2232-33).

Deputies received the initial call to go to the Teddy Bear at 11:25 and arrived at 11:31. (R-2309). They confirmed there were no signs of a struggle at the bar. (R-2316-17). Steve Casey arrived at the bar about 12:30 and denied knowledge of his wife's whereabouts. (R-2681-82).

Through an interview with Ted Valencia, the investigators discovered that Ray Hamilton had been in the bar that night. (R-2683). A deputy picked up Ray Hamilton and brought him to the bar. (R-2323). When interviewed, Hamilton gave the investigators a description of an individual and a vehicle that had been at the bar on August 6 and the investigators put out a BOLO. (R-2684-85).

#### VII. APPELLANT'S DETENTION<sup>2</sup>.

Deputy Sheriff Russell Townsend stopped Appellant driving a

---

<sup>2</sup>Additional facts regarding the detention are set forth in Point II, wherein Appellant argues he was illegally detained.

vehicle that fit the BOLO on 331 South at Freeport approximately 4:50 a.m. on the morning of August 7, 1990. (R-852-54). Other officers arrived on the scene and Appellant and his vehicle were transported to the Sheriff's substation. (R-872-74,888).

At the Substation, Appellant signed a Consent to Search his vehicle and a Consent to Search his home. (R-876-77).

#### VIII. THE SEARCHES TAKE PLACE.

While Appellant was being held at the Substation, investigators sprayed WD-40 on a piece of cardboard and backed Appellant's vehicle over the cardboard, leaving an impression of the tire track. Photographs were made of these impressions and given to deputies with instructions to check dirt roads going into the woods. (R-2988-89).

In the meantime, other investigators went to search Appellant's home and took Appellant with them. (R-880). At Appellant's home, there was money in the bathroom sink that was wet.<sup>3</sup> (R-880-81). Appellant told the officers that he had been working on the dock and fell in the mud. (R-2756). The total amount of money found was \$176 and included fifty-five \$1 bills. (R-2739,3627). The money was processed by the FDLE Laboratory, but no blood or other evidence was developed on the money. (R-3318-19).

#### IX. PAULINE CASEY'S BODY IS FOUND.

An employee of the Sheriff's Office took one of the

---

<sup>3</sup>There was also evidence introduced at trial that at approximately 4:12 a.m. that morning, Appellant purchased two sandwiches from a local convenience store and paid for them with four \$1 dollar bills that were wet. (R-2853,2855).

photographs of the tire impression made with WD-40 and went west on U.S. 98. He located a tire track that he thought was similar leaving U.S. 98 about a quarter mile east of 331 and traveling north into the woods. (R-2332-35). This was a two rut road about 4-5 miles from the Teddy Bear Bar. (R-2341-42).

Investigator Brad Trusty went to the area of the tire tracks and followed the tracks north down the dirt road to a power line, where the track turned around. (R-2989). The body of Pauline Casey was found in this area, about 20-25 feet from the dirt road. (R-2995-96). The body was located in bamboo, thick brush, and cockleburrs. (R-2707-08). The brush was impenetrable in places and anywhere from a few inches to 3-4 feet high. (R-3005). The cause of death was loss of blood caused by a stab wound to the back and two knife wounds to the neck. (R-3374-76).

After finding the body, Appellant was formally arrested at his home at 8:56 a.m. on August 7, 1990, while the officers were still conducting the search. (R-2718,2997).

X. RAY HAMILTON IDENTIFIES APPELLANT.

After Appellant was initially detained and transported to the Sheriff's Office, the investigators sent a deputy to pick up Ray Hamilton and bring him to the Substation. According to Hamilton, the deputies said "Ray, we would like you to identify a vehicle for us" and put him in the back seat of the patrol car. (R-2803-04). Hamilton thought he was being arrested "Because I was the last one seen with her" and "it just ran through my mind that since I knew I was the last one there . . ." (R-1367,1383,2818).

As they drove into the parking lot of the Substation, Hamilton saw Appellant's jeep and told the officers there was something white sticking up on the driver's side in the back. Hamilton went over to the jeep and saw a red and white Coleman cooler in the back of the truck. (R-2804). The officers then showed Hamilton a polaroid picture. According to Hamilton, "They pulled that picture out of the Polaroid while I was standing there. So there was nothing else there." This testimony was verified by the investigator who said that the picture "was still developing at that time." (R-1397). The investigator asked Hamilton "if he would identify -- or, if he could identify the person in the photograph." (R-1393). Hamilton identified the picture (which was of Appellant) as the person in the bar. (R-2807).

Hamilton said he had never seen this person before and only had about one-half hour to see him at the bar. During that period of time, he was talking and looking at Pauline and other people in the bar and also talking on the phone. Hamilton said he was not looking directly at the individual while at the bar. (R-1384-85).

#### XI. PHYSICAL EVIDENCE FROM THE JEEP.

Appellant's jeep was processed by the FDLE laboratory. Despite the fact that there was a substantial amount of blood at the scene of Pauline Casey's murder, the laboratory found no blood on or in the jeep. (R-3010,3331). Similarly, despite the fact that there was loose "stuffing" in the seats of the vehicle, there were no fibers from the jeep on the victim and no fibers from the victim in the jeep. Also, there were no fibers from the victim's clothing

on the Appellant and no fibers from the Appellant's clothing on the victim. (R-3953-57). Hair examination had a similar result, with none of the victim's hair being found in the jeep or on Appellant and none of the Appellant's hair being associated with the victim or her clothing. (R-4458).

The only evidence obtained from the jeep that would tend to link Appellant with the victim was the victim's fingerprints. Two of the victim's fingerprints were found on the exterior of the passenger's window and one palm print was found on the inside of the passenger's door handle, in an area where the door handle would be grasped to open the door. (R-3360). It is impossible to know when those prints were placed on the vehicle because fingerprints cannot be aged. (R-3367).

Vegetation that was caught in the undercarriage of the jeep was submitted to the laboratory, along with vegetation from the crime scene. The vegetation from the jeep did not match that of the crime scene. (State's Exh #34). Also, paint scrapings collected from branches at the crime scene did not match that of the Appellant's jeep, with the expert finding "The paint on the bushes could not have come from this jeep." (R-4101).

Laura Russo of the FDLE laboratory also processed the tire tracks that were at the crime scene and compared them to the tires on the jeep. Three of the tires from the jeep have a similar tread design, but the left front tire is different. Also, the right front tire of the jeep is worn differently from the others and Ms. Russo did not observe the wear pattern from the right front tire at

the crime scene. There are no "individual" characteristics in the tire tracks at the scene that would associate Appellant's jeep with the scene. The tire tracks could have been made by another vehicle. (R-3283,3288,3302,3305-06).

Dale Nute worked for the FDLE laboratory for fifteen years, specializing in shoe tracks and tire tracks. (R-4093) While working for the FDLE, he helped train Laura Russo and was retained as a defense expert in this case. (R-4096,4155). Nute took Appellant's jeep to the crime scene and drove it down the dirt road, something Russo did not do.<sup>4</sup> (R-3312). Appellant's jeep created an "overlap" of the tire tracks as it traveled down the dirt road. This "overlap" occurs because the frame on Appellant's jeep is warped. As the vehicle rolls along, the back tire tracks should cover up the front tire tracks, but because of the warped frame on Appellant's jeep, the back tire tracks do not entirely cover up the front tire tracks. Instead, there is approximately one-half of an inch "overlap" created in the tire tracks wherein the front tire track remains visible. (R-4119-21,4126,4131).

Because there was no "overlap" in any of the tire tracks at the scene, (R-4126,4131,4245), it was Nute's opinion that it is "highly unlikely" that Appellant's jeep left the tire tracks at the crime scene. (R-4134). The tires on Appellant's jeep are sold by eight different manufacturers and five different retread companies. They are customarily used as a light truck tire for pickup trucks,

---

<sup>4</sup>Russo also did not measure the wheel base of the vehicle to compare to the wheel base of the tire tracks at the scene. (R-3318).

vans, and utility vehicles that inspect power lines. (R-4107-08).

#### XII. A STAIN ON APPELLANT'S SHIRT.

When Appellant was detained at 5:00 a.m. on August 7, 1990, he was wearing a T-shirt, shorts and flip flops.<sup>5</sup> (R-874). He had been in several different police cars while being transported to the Substation, to his home, and in returning to the Substation. At the Substation, he was held in several different rooms and ate lunch in the deputies' room. (R-2832-36) In the meantime, he kept on the same clothes that he was initially arrested in. Finally, at 2:01 p.m. on August 7, 1990, the officers took his clothes into custody. (R-2830). The clothes were not sent to the laboratory until August 15, 1990, and were maintained in the evidence vault (which is not refrigerated) until then. (R-3083-84,3106-07).

Charles Ginsberg, an FDLE lab examiner, tested Appellant's shorts, shoes and watch and found no blood. (R-3172). Four or five stains on the T-shirt were negative. Ginsberg said he found human blood in one stain on the T-shirt; but could not get an ABO blood type or any of the enzymes that are found in human blood, except the ADA enzyme. According to Ginsberg, he found ADA enzyme type 1 in the stain which is consistent with the victim's ADA enzyme type and is an enzyme found in the blood of 90% of the caucasian population. (R-3164-67,3189). Appellant's ADA enzyme is type 2-1. (R-3167). The test requires the examiner to "interpret" the banding patterns of enzymes and make a "scientific judgment" as to

---

<sup>5</sup>There were no scratches or scrapes on Appellant's legs despite the thick brush where Pauline Casey's body was found. (R-2709).



whether the enzyme is there. This is done "visually" without a microscope. (R-3214,3224,3230).

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