**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

JUL 12 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By XC  
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERNEST SUGGS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 80,340

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT  
OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT  
IN AND FOR WALTON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER  
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
FLORIDA BAR NO. 239161

OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL  
THE CAPITOL  
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050  
(904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Mr. Suggs' error, clearly, stems from his incorrect equation of "arguments" with "evidence." This is demonstrated by his cited cases, including Czubak v. State, 570 So.2d 925 (Fla. 1990) and Ward v. State, 559 So.2d 450 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). Those cases both involved evidence or testimony elicited during trial, not mere argument. Thus, the citations are irrelevant.

In an effort to salvage the point, Mr. Suggs lifts two unrelated events from the trial and gamely attempts to link them to the prosecutor's alleged argument.

The first event was the state's cross examination of Mrs. Suggs after the Appellant's mother misrepresented that Suggs had worked (for a Mr. Mayne) for "several years" prior to 1990 (R 3920-21). The defense conceded that cross examination regarding employment with Mr. Mayne was proper (R 3922) as long as no reference was made to prison (R 3926-27). The court limited the

scope of cross examination and the state concluded its questions on point without objection (R 3943)<sup>6</sup>

The second event was the prosecutor's rebuttal argument, wherein he responded to defense portrayals of Suggs as honest and hardworking (R 4420) by simply citing to the lack of evidence, a proper response, Kramer v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S. 266 (Fla. 1993) to which no objection was made.

The issues cited by Mr. Suggs as "support" for his claim regarding opening argument, are simply not preserved and not available for review, and Suggs cannot save unpreserved claims by linking them to the oral argument.

The Appellant has no legal or factual basis for relief on point three, and in particular has failed to show any abuse of discretion by the trial court. Breedlove, supra.

#### POINT IV

#### THE APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF ON HIS CUMULATIVE ERROR CLAIM

The fourth point on appeal is an ad hominem assault on the trial prosecutor on the basis of alleged "improper" arguments which, in truth, were so innocuous that they did not draw any objections at trial. The so-called improprieties consisted of: (1) an alleged "Golden Rule" argument; (2) a reference to the victim's inability to testify; (3) references to gaps in the affirmative defenses set forth by Mr. Suggs; (4) reference to the

---

<sup>6</sup> The "objectionable testimony" at (R 3928-31) cited in Suggs' brief was, in fact, a proffer outside the jury's presence.

putative defenses as a "smokescreen", and (5) reference to the defendant's experts as "hired guns".

Defense counsel also criticized questions asked by the prosecutor which related to "probable cause", yet, again, no objections were raised at trial.

To circumvent the procedural obstacle, the Appellant once again labels one error "fundamental" and then tries to bootstrap all of his unpreserved issues into the "fundamental" issue.

Trial courts cannot be sandbagged on appeal with claims that were not fairly presented at trial. This includes claims of improper prosecutorial conduct. Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978); State v. Cumbie, 380 So.2d 1081 (Fla. 1980); Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1983); Tillman v. State, 471 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1985); Mitchell v. State, 527 So.2d 179 (Fla. 1988); Gunsby v. State, 574 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 1991); Marshall v. State, \_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_ (Fla. 1993), 18 Fla.L.Weekly S459. Thus, none of Mr. Suggs' "claims" are properly before the court. Without waiving this point, however, the State would note:

(A) "Golden Rule"

The defense proposed that Pauline Casey was murdered by her husband, to collect her life insurance. This unfair attack upon the surviving spouse was not supported by evidence beyond the mere collection of a death benefit by Mr. Casey. To prop up this "defense", Mr. Suggs called Mr. Casey as a straw man witness (R 3667, et seq.), and then argued Mr. Casey's bad memory for precise events in the days following his wife's murder as "proof" he murdered Pauline Casey. In rebuttal to this incredible attack

upon the family of the victim, the prosecutor replied to the "memory" issue in the manner quoted in Suggs' brief.

The context of the argument is clear. The prosecutor was explaining in common sense terms why someone's memory might lapse. He was not asking the jury to rule against Suggs by pretending it was the victim. Thus, as a "Golden Rule" argument this argument was borderline at best.

In Bew v. Williams, 373 So.2d 446 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1976), the second district, citing to Stewart v. Cook, 218 So.2d 491 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969), held that there were cases in which an "abstract" use of the pronoun "you" in an argument would not render the argument violative of the Golden Rule.<sup>7</sup>

We submit that the use of the pronoun "you" in the context of this case was abstract usage geared to the credibility of Mr. Casey as challenged by the defense. In this context, we would cite to Lewis v. State, 377 So.2d 640 (Fla. 1980).

In Lewis, the prosecutor argued:

Now, if you just shot a man in self-defense, wouldn't you tell that to the deputy? Instead of, 'He's been bugging me a long time and I'm tired of it and I shot him.'"

Id. at 645.

This Court, while noting the reference to "you" to the jury, looked at the statement in context and ruled that the argument was, in fact, a comment on the credibility of the proposed defense rather than a Golden Rule violation. Thus, Lewis is

---

<sup>7</sup> Factually, the attorney in that case used "you" in actual reference to a party at trial, not to the jury. The Appellant felt the pronoun could have been misunderstood.

precisely on point. Here, the "you" reference addressed the defense that Steve Casey killed Pauline and lied about his conduct in the days following her death by feigning a bad memory. The prosecutor's response, that a memory loss after the death of a spouse was reasonable, was essentially identical to the context of Lewis. In Worden v. State, 603 So.2d 581 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992), the court, again, refused to call an argument a "Golden Rule" argument when it did not seek to place the jury in the "shoes of the victim".

Interpreting and resolving this record in favor of the judgment, it simply cannot be accepted that the argument at bar was a "Golden Rule" argument.

Mr. Suggs goes on, however, to allege that the presence of a "Golden Rule" argument is per se reversible error which compels relief even in the absence of an objection. He is wrong. Prosecutorial errors, standing alone, will not compel reversal unless they are "fundamental" as described in State v. Murray, 443 So.2d 955 (Fla. 1984), and the "mailorder catalog" case of Peterson v. State, 376 So.2d 1230 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979). The argument at bar does not remotely approach these examples.

The cases cited by Mr. Suggs do not support his position.

Peterson v. State, 376 So.2d 1230 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979), addressed fundamental error from the context of a veritable "catalog" of improper and inflammatory arguments, not just a "Golden Rule" argument.

Adams v. State, 192 So.2d 762 (Fla. 1966), makes no reference to the presence or absence of an objection.



Lucas v. State, 335 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976), again makes no reference to objections.

In Bullard v. State, 436 So.2d 962 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983), the court specifically ruled that the "Golden Rule" argument was preserved for appellate review by timely objection as required by Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978), and Simpson v. State, 418 So.2d 984 (Fla. 1982). The defense also objected in Wheeler v. State, 468 So.2d 978 (Fla. 1985).

Mr. Suggs' reliance upon Taylor v. State, 583 So.2d 323 (Fla. 1991), would seem to be misplaced. Taylor involved a preserved claim relating to the victim's inability to enjoy life. The jury was not told to put itself in the victim's shoes, but rather that the victim could no longer enjoy life (as opposed to a person who, although in prison, was still alive). This was the same argument used in Jackson v. State, 522 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1988), and was not a Golden Rule argument as much as it was a "victim impact" argument.

It is submitted that the failure to object to the alleged "Golden Rule" argument at bar is dispositive of the issue.

(B) Other "Errors"

Apparently, in reaction to his procedural dilemma, Mr. Suggs offers other unpreserved "errors" in the faint hope he can equate this case with Peterson, supra. These other "errors" are easily disposed of:

(2) "Victim unable to testify" - Typically lifted out of context (R 4380), the comment was couched in terms of "additional evidence" provided by the victim even though she obviously could

not testify.<sup>8</sup> This was not an appeal for sympathy or an effort to inflame the jury. The equally non-contextual reference to "ants" on the victim was in reference to the photographic evidence and the loss of fiber samples due to dragging the victim into the bushes (R 4500).<sup>9</sup>

(3) "Fifth Amendment" - Mr. Suggs called witnesses to support his theory of defense. The prosecutor had every right to point out gaps in the defense. Kramer v. State, \_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_ (Fla. 1993), 18 Fla.L.Weekly S266. Suggs' cited case of Jackson v. State, 575 So.2d 181 (Fla. 1991), involved a defendant who called no witnesses, and distinguished its holding from that in Buckrem v. State, 355 So.2d 111 (Fla. 1978), wherein the defendant did call witnesses and thus could be challenged for not calling other witnesses. Jackson, supra, at 188. Trial counsel did not and could not object in our case because the prosecutor's argument was appropriate.

(4) "Smokescreen" - Mr. Suggs argued that the State and its experts all conspired to frame an "outsider" with "long hair" for a murder that, in fact, was committed by some local good-old-boy. Mr. Suggs engaged in improper accusations against Mr. Casey despite having no evidence at all that Mr. Casey killed his wife. See State v. Castillo, 486 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1986) (improper for attorney to accuse witness of committing a crime without actual

---

<sup>8</sup> i.e., bloodstains, fingerprints and items left on the bar (R 4380).

<sup>9</sup> Suggs' reference to Garron v. State, 528 So.2d 353 (Fla. 1988), is not only inapt, it fails to admit that the cited comment was only one of many improper arguments which were preserved by timely objection throughout that case.

proof). Thus, it was defense counsel, not the State, who engaged in improper tactics<sup>10</sup> and the prosecutor had every right to respond. That is why Mr. Suggs did not object or, by doing so, "preserve" the issue for review.

(5) "Attacks Upon Defense Experts" - Mr. Suggs did not object to the State's arguments regarding the experts hired by the defense (regardless of the source of any funds). Although use of the descriptive phrases "hired guns" and "Monday morning quarterback" are now suddenly of reversible magnitude to Mr. Suggs, they were clearly not as objectionable at trial.

The phrase "hired gun" was, at worst, an intemperate characterization of the evidence going to the potential bias of the witness. The comment did not constitute reversible error. Mann v. State, 603 So.2d 1141 (Fla. 1992) (denigration of expert not reversible error); Craig v. State, 510 So.2d 857 (Fla. 1987) (reference to witness as "liar" not reversible error).

Mr. Suggs' cited case of Nowitzke v. State, 572 So.2d 1346 (Fla. 1990), is irrelevant. In that case, the prosecutor asked a defense psychiatrist (Dr. Tanay) if another psychiatrist who was not a witness (Dr. Szasz) ever called Dr. Tanay a "hired gun".

---

<sup>10</sup> In point of fact, if the prosecutor and the police had conspired to frame an "outsider" for a crime committed by a "local" such conduct would itself be criminal. Reckless accusations of misconduct against the prosecution, without proof, are not only improper, but arguably sanctionable, as in Thomas v. State, 210 So.2d 488 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1968); Bogan v. State, 211 So.2d 74 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1968); Giles v. State, 363 So.2d 164 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1974); Bumgarner v. State, 245 So.2d 635 (Fla. 4th DCA 1971). It should also be noted that the duty of counsel to his client does not include setting up false defenses, McNealy v. State, 183 So.2d 738 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966); Wilder v. State, 156 So.2d 395 (Fla. 1st DCA 1963). So the "right to counsel" was not violated.

Thus, the issue was whether one could impeach an expert through an opinion (of that expert) held by a third person. We are not dealing with "impeachment" evidence. We are dealing with closing argument and the proper inferences which the parties are permitted to draw from the evidence that was presented to the jury.

The State submits evidence (for testing) to an appropriate agency and then relies upon those findings at trial. The defense is awarded investigative funds and can go from expert to expert to obtain the opinion it wants. It is fair commentary, therefore, to note that defense experts are "selected" and not neutral when, in fact, that can be inferred from the evidence. That is particularly true when, as here, the theory of the defense was that the State was "biased" against Suggs as an "outsider" and, therefore, manufactured a case against him.

Mr. Suggs also complains that the prosecutor "shouted" while questioning witnesses. That "fact" is not evident from the record. On page (R 3834), defense counsel alleged that the prosecutor was shouting, but also noted that the prosecutor was afflicted by a hearing loss which caused him to raise his voice. The claim that the prosecutor somehow selectively raised his voice is an unfair ad hominem attack upon a physically disadvantaged attorney and will not be dignified further.

Finally, in addition to the failure of Mr. Suggs to preserve these assorted issues by objection, the State would note that the freewheeling nature of the closing arguments by both sides clearly rendered any "error" harmless. Defense counsel claimed

that they took notes during the trial which correctly recorded testimony and that the prosecutor "could have" examined (and corrected, by inspection) their notes but did not (R 4422). Counsel referred to secret, non-record evidence (R 4428). Counsel characterized the State's experts' testimony as "hogwash" (R 4435), and misrepresented that the State's experts were also specially hired ("everyone's being paid") (R 4438). It cannot be said that the State's arguments outshone this catalog of improper defense argument. Thus, any "error" was, if existent, harmless.

(6) "Diminishing Burden of Proof" - The last sub-point is an interpretation of a question and answer (regarding probable cause to arrest) drawn by appellate counsel, alone. The jury was repeatedly instructed and reminded that it was required to find proof "beyond a reasonable doubt" and it cannot fairly be argued that this unpreserved error in any way overshadowed the rest of the case.

Since the "error" was not preserved, Suggs is not entitled to review or relief.

(C) "Cumulative Error"

Again, we note that the defense has infused this appeal with as many illusory and unpreserved "errors" as possible in a vain effort to create the illusion of "cumulative error". None of the complained-of "error" was, in fact, error at all or it was clearly offset by other events at trial. Since the total cannot be greater than the sum of its parts, adding together all of Mr. Suggs' illusory errors does not create reversible error. See Sochor v. State, 580 So.2d 595 (Fla. 1991).

POINT V

THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE  
CONVICTION FOR KIDNAPPING

The Appellant, was charged by Indictment with "kidnapping," in violation of §787.01, Fla.Stat. (R 11). The record does not reflect any inability to prepare a defense or any "failure to comprehend the charges" by Mr. Suggs.

The evidence supporting the charge of kidnapping included:

(1) The victim worked for a bar called "Teddy Bear's." (R 2241).

(2) Pauline Casey (the victim) was dependable and would not leave the bar unattended (R 2242).

(3) Pauline Casey was missing, yet her purse and keys were left in the bar, her car was left in the lot, and the front door to the bar was left open." (R 2221-2226).

(4) Suggs confessed to Wallace Byars that he took Pauline from the bar at knife-point (R 3400).

(5) Pauline's finger and handprints were found in Suggs' jeep (R 3359-60).

No defense to this line of evidence was offered.

On appeal, Suggs offers de novo argument that the Indictment (R 11) failed to include the alternative term "secretly", thus negating the entire trial because "secretly" applied to the evidence of abduction. This theory is clearly frivolous even if preserved.

First, notwithstanding the applicability of the term "secretly" in describing the abduction of Pauline Casey, the un rebutted evidence from the trial was that Pauline was taken out of the bar "by force" (knifepoint). Thus, the "secretly" issue is moot.

Second, the theory that a valid Indictment, which refers the accused to the statute (§§787.01), can be challenged by a post-trial assault on the evidence has been repeatedly rejected. DuBoise v. State, 520 So.2d 260 (Fla. 1988); Justus v. State, 438 So.2d 358 (Fla. 1983); Williams v. State, \_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_, 18 Fla.L.Weekly D 1036 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); Cotton v. State, 395 So.2d 1287 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).

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